

An Atlas of Current Customer-Facing Utility Program Designs and Pricing

₿

Ť

加

ΞQ

0

·S

 \oplus

kevala⁺

-

70

An Atlas of Current Customer-Facing Utility Program Designs and Pricing

AUTHORS

Tanushree Charan, National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) Rois Langner, NREL Katelyn Stenger, NREL Craig Simmons, NREL Zahra Fallahi, University of Colorado (CU) Boulder Margot Everett, Kevala Chuck Moran, Kevala Natalie Csinsi, Kevala

NOTICE

This manuscript has been authored by employees of the Alliance for Sustainable Energy, LLC ("Alliance") under Contract No. DE-AC36-08GO28308 with the U.S. Department of Energy ("DOE"). Funding provided by the U.S. Department of Energy Building Technologies Office. This report was prepared as an account of work sponsored by an agency of the United States government. Neither the United States government nor any agency thereof, nor any of their employees, makes any warranty, express or implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights. Reference herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by trade name, trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by the United States government or any agency thereof. The views and opinions of authors expressed herein do not necessarily state or reflect those of the United States government or any agency thereof.

This report is available at no cost from the National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) at www.nrel.gov/publications.

U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) reports produced after 1991 and a growing number of pre-1991 documents are available free via www.OSTI.gov.

NREL prints on paper that contains recycled content.

Front cover photo by Dennis Schroeder, NREL 61981

NREL is a national laboratory of the U.S. Department of Energy Office of Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy Operated by the Alliance for Sustainable Energy, LLC

Contract No. DE-AC36-08GO28308

Technical Report NREL/TP-5500-90456

August 2024

National Renewable Energy Laboratory 15013 Denver West Parkway Golden, CO 80401 303-275-3000 • www.nrel.gov

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	4
CURRENT PROGRAM DESIGN AND PRICING PRACTICES .	6
Utility Structures	7
Cost Recovery and Cost-of-Service Studies	10
Program Design Goals	11 12
Context and Eligibility	12
Marketing and Outreach	13
Implementation	13
Evaluation	13
Iteration	14
Rate Design	15
Motivation for Utility Programs	15 16
Technology	16
Public Opinion	16
Regulation	17
FEDERAL AND LOCAL POLICY IMPACT ON UTILITIES	18
HURDLES IN UTILITY PROGRAMS	21
Top-Down Regulation	22
Limited Pricing Options	22
Program Bias	22
Program Marketing	23
Limited Evidence and Metrics	23
REFERENCES	24



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Photo by Dennis Schroeder, NREL 50676

To achieve holistic decarbonization, customer accessibility to utility programs and incentives will be crucial. However, utilities face challenges to ensure accessibility for all utility customers. We explore utilities' current program and rate design practices, motivations behind these practices, and limitations to these existing practices.

The National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) and Kevala, Inc. (Kevala) conducted a targeted literature review and leveraged extensive expertise, including that of team members with four decades of experience in the utility sector, to characterize utility programs and rate designs. This analysis delves into the motivations behind these programs and the various hurdles they face. Through this in-depth study, the team provides critical insights into the operational dynamics of utility programs, identifying key drivers and barriers that influence their effectiveness and implementation.

Motivations for utilities to host utility programs include increasing capacity, advancing technology, shaping public opinion, and complying with regulations.

Disadvantaged communities are disproportionately affected by pollution related to electricity generation and have historically been marginalized in utility program design. Utilities factor goals, context, eligibility, marketing and outreach, implementation, evaluation, and iteration—all underpinned by evidence and metrics—into program designs, which vary according to utility structure.

Limited pricing options

for customer classes

Motivations for utilities to host utility programs include increasing capacity, advancing technology, shaping public opinion, and complying with regulations. However, current practices face several limitations. These include:

- Reliance on top-down regulation and guidance that
 neglect to consider customers of diverse demographics
- Limited pricing options for different customer classes
- A bias toward "typical" customers that excludes people of many demographics
- Ineffective program marketing
- Insufficient evidence and metrics to support program effectiveness.

This atlas is intended for individuals and organizations interested in understanding utility program design and rate structures. It serves as a resource for those new to the field of utility structures and programs in the US as well as stakeholders looking to deepen their knowledge of how utility programs are conceived, implemented, and evaluated. Our analysis presents complex information in an accessible manner, aiming to bridge the gap between expert knowledge and practical applications. To learn even more about key considerations of utility program design, we recommend reading Driving Affordable Decarbonization (Charan et al. 2024).



Top-down regulation and guidance that neglect to factor in the full range of customer demographics





Program bias toward "typical" customers can exclude many customer demographics

Ineffective program marketing



Limited evidence and metrics



CURRENT PROGRAM DESIGN AND PRICING PRACTICES



Access to affordable electricity remains a critical national energy objective. Utility rate design and pricing provide mechanisms to ensure affordability. Yet, current program design and pricing practices have limitations and may not equitably benefit disparate populations. Therefore, there is a need to understand how current practices can promote or hinder access to affordable electricity, especially as more commercial and residential customers move toward decarbonizing and electrified technologies. In this section, we explore the role of utility structures, program and rate design, and utility motivation in providing access to affordable electricity, particularly among disadvantaged and underserved communities.

Utility Structures

Energy providers frequently administer customer programs and formulate pricing structures for their energy services in the form of rates, which sometimes can be skewed by conflicting objectives. On one hand, energy providers are charged with delivering benefits to customers, often through incentive or energy reduction programs. On the other hand, utilities must ensure just and reasonable billing for energy consumption (ACEEE 2022; Davis 2009). We observed that these tensions have led to varying degrees of pricing and program offering scrutiny, contingent on the structure of each energy provider. Utilities, as a subset of regulated energy providers in the United States, exhibit a broad and diverse spectrum of structures, each with its own set of rate and program design advantages and disadvantages thereby influencing how effectively utilities can cater to their customers. These utility structures can be described as follows:

- **Investor-owned utilities (IOUs)** are for-profit utilities that can be held privately or publicly. More than 70% of U.S. customers are served by 168 IOUs, which are regulated by public utility commissions (PUCs) (EIA 2019).
- **Municipal utilities (munis)** are not-for-profit public utilities owned by local governments. Munis owned by state government often are called public utilities. Over 2,000 municipal and public utilities serve about 15% of U.S. customers. Munis can also be regulated by PUCs but are more often directly managed by local governments (Heinemann and Smith 2020; NCUC 2023).

- **Community choice aggregators (CCAs)** are not-forprofit public utilities that procure electricity for a specific community or group of communities. CCAs are regulated by local governments.
- **Cooperative utilities (co-ops)** are not-for-profit private utilities owned by the customers the utility serves. The U.S. has more than 800 co-ops that serve 13% of customers and are regulated by boards of directors.
- **Retail supply programs** allow customers to purchase electricity from electric service providers that are not the distributing utility. Retail supply programs are regulated by local governments.

Traditionally, electric utilities in the United States have been classified as "natural monopolies,"¹ meaning their average cost falls as the firm increases in size (Sharkey 1983). While access to electricity is necessary for the safety and livelihood of a community, utility markets have not been considered competitive and are usually subject to extensive government oversight (Posner 1969). **Figure 1** shows the processes of different utility processes.

¹ A natural monopoly is a monopoly within an industry with high infrastructure costs and other barriers to entry.



Figure 1. Structure and processes of utilities

The PUC establishes a set percentage by which the IOU annual revenues can exceed costs (i.e., a rate of return). The PUC process is often similar to judicial proceedings: written materials are formally submitted, after which interested parties can intervene based on fairness, equity, costs, competitiveness,² or other concerns. Interested parties, often referred to as "intervenors", range from industry trade groups such as solar panel installers to large customers and private or public customer advocacy organizations.³ Some states financially support intervenors, which fosters diversity of opinions and perspectives. When financial support is not available, there is a higher barrier to intervention, making it more likely that only privileged entities with an abundance of resources, time, and money will participate. Also similar to court proceedings, much of what is determined in PUC proceedings establishes precedent and is replicated across the jurisdiction, regardless of whether that territory contains one IOU or five.

In the past 30 years, the electric power industry has evolved to become more competitive, particularly with respect to electricity generation (FERC 2023; Murphy et al. 2021). For instance, CCAs and retail supply programs have played a significant role in increasing competition by providing electric supply alternatives (sometimes at a lower price point), or generating electricity using by renewable resources. CCAs and other less-regulated entities can play an important role in program design and the services offered

² As the industry has become more deregulated, PUC use market rules to prevent utilies from exercising monopolistic powers with measures that may even include prohibiting the utility from offering some services provided by competitive entities.

³ Public advocacy agencies are funded by state or local agencies.

to disadvantaged communities. CCAs have a significant advantage in developing innovative program designs for their customers because their service areas cover smaller, more localized portions of the population when compared to IOUs. This allows CCAs to interact more closely with their customers and design programs that better able to meet customers' needs and advance local government commitments to renewable energy procurement, decarbonization, energy equity, and utility affordability (Trumbull, Gattaciecca, and DeShazo 2020). State policy regulating CCAs, contributes to differences between states with regulated utility markets and those with deregulated markets, where one entity does not control all aspects of electricity generation, transmission, and distribution (Gultom 2019). The status of CCA programs across the United States can be viewed in **Figure 2**.

Over time, more states in the US have legalized broader participation in electricity generation and distribution, increasing customer choice.



Figure 2. Status of CCA programs in United States as of June 2023 Source: Depit 2023

Cost Recovery and Cost-of-Service Studies

Cost recovery is central to utility rate and program design, because utilities must recover investments in improvments to energy services and customer service. Utilities primarily leverage revenue from customers at different rates to recover operations, maintenance, and capital investment cost. Utilities design and implement rates depending on the cost of generation, distribution, and service.

A utility often develops a detailed understanding of its expense through a cost-of-service (COS) study that informs rate and program design. COS studies help ensure that customer rates reflect the amount of money spent by the utility to deliver the energy in addition to a rate of return if the utility is an IOU. COS studies also assess cost shifts needed to make rate structures equitable. Rates may be based on the total or average of a customer class (e.g., residential) but fail to account for the heterogeneity of customers within a specific class. Sometimes, this rate disparity can be due to participation in specific utility programs (such as net metering) or diverse energy usages within a specific class.

COS studies which are regularly conducted to course-correct for unintended consequences of rate designs and help ensure regulatory compliance, vary depending on the size of the utility, changes in demand, and other factors. COS studies are typically conducted every 3–4 years as part of regulatory proceedings and often result in a major rate change (Costello 2014; RedClay 2018).

4 A general rate case is a regulatory proceeding that establishes utility rates and revenue requirements.

COS studies are central to a utility's operations and serve many functions. They aid in unbundling costs so that utilities can charge separately for specific services. From our interviews, we found that utilities develop a means for allocating costs among customer classes in accordance with each class's contribution to the cost of service. Understanding avoided costs is critical to the evaluation of program and pricing options for cost-effectiveness. Conducting COS studies provides direction for a utility for investments, rates, and programs.

COS studies can be approached by considering embedded costs of service or marginal costs of service, which are shown in **Figure 3**.

Oregon Cost-of-Service Study

Oregon - Electric utilities can file general rate cases⁴ at any time and must perform annual power cost adjustments to reflect changes in wholesale energy costs (Public Utility Commission 2023b)



Figure 3. Steps to embedded and marginal cost of service approaches Source: Kevala, Inc.

Embedded COS studies consider the actual costs for a determined period, such as:

- a test year or previous year, and include the investment costs for a utility asset, minus the accumulated depreciation already claimed;
- a reasonable return on that investment;
- and operations, maintenance, and administration expenses.

Marginal COS focuses on incremental costs from serving additional customers or loads and is based on the investment expected for a utility asset to make in order to meet the incremental load. Marginal COS factors in a reasonable return on investment in addition to operations, maintenance, and administrative expenses.

Program Design

Programs for customers that reduce load through energy efficiency or demand response are critical in the transition to a clean energy future and are capable of (O'Shaughnessy et al. 2022). In Figure 4, we show common stages of utility program design (Energy Star 2023; Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy 2016). Our research was supplemented by interviews with utility stakeholders as part of the Driving Affordable Decarbonization (Charan et al. 2024).



Figure 4. Common phases of utility program design

Critical steps in utility program design include:

- Goals,
- context and eligibility;
- marketing and outreach;
- implementation,
- evaluation,
- and iteration

While Figure 4 presents these as sequential steps, our interviews with utilities indicate that these stages can happen simultaneously across a utility's program portfolio and may even occur in a different order. For instance, pilot programs may be used to test implementation strategies before eligibility and marketing strategies are finalized. Evidence and metrics underlie these processes to ensure feasibility and accountability throughout the process (Molina 2014).

Our research with utility experts found that being clear and explicit with goals can help to create clarity in direction and program implementation decisionmaking.

Goals

Utilities develop program goals in partnership with stakeholders. Increasingly, program goals include decarbonization objectives to ensure a transition to clean energy and to meet stakeholder needs (Banks 2022). From our interviews, we found that utility program managers often gather information about customer needs and determine eligibility to ensure that the benefits are directed and in line with program goals. This process determines social, financial, and material incentives. There are many motivations for setting these goals, such as public opinion, regulatory requirements, legislative interests, technology requirements, or increased electricity demand (More detail on motivations behind goals can be found in the **Motivation for Utility Programs** section).

Goals can determine utilities' rebate and incentive designs. On one hand, utilities may seek to maximize impact by deeply decarbonizing a few customers' energy use. On the other hand, utilities may seek to maximize the number of customers positively impacted through easy-to-implement programs, such as incentivizing use of LED lighting in commercial buildings. Our research with utility experts found that clear and explicit with goals can improve understanding of direction and program implementation decision-making. For a utility program administrator at an IOU, goals are often established by regulators.

Context and Eligibility

Utility programs incentivize customers to invest in energy conservation and management solutions. Utilities often design these programs with assumptions about what a "typical" customer⁵ might need or want, overlooking the needs of other customers. From our interviews, we found that customers usually self-elect to participate or enroll, and the utility provides financial assistance—through rebates or financing options—in lowering the cost of new, more energy-efficient and/or decarbonizing technologies. Focusing on a specific customer class provides more opportunities for targeted incentives, marketing, and implementation strategies to ensure effective programs (Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy 2016).

In our interviews, utility program stakeholders shared that eligibility was often determined by what quantifiable criteria. Income, location, fuel type, energy use, and physical space for equipment installation are all characteristics commonly used to target specific customer segments. For customers, this can result in high administrative burdens due to long, specialized processes for verifying income, delaying program enrollment and accrual of benefits (Herd and Moynihan 2019). As such, some utility program stakeholders noted that they use multiple methods to verify eligibility rather than one method to reduce burdens. Other utility program stakeholders shared that they guide customers through the verification process to streamline application completion and delivery of benefits. Utility program stakeholders also shared that they used benefit cost analysis to determine financial incentives.

Utilities operate within diverse community needs and priorities that can promote or hinder their ability to design and implement certain programs. From our interviews, we found that utilities and their partners shared a need to understand their customers to ensure programs are appropriate for the communities. As contexts have shifted in the last decade, most notably in the area of renewable energy generation economic viability, utilities have adapted their programs to provide more comprehensive and diverse offerings. Utilities typically design programs as one-time incentives that reduce customers' barriers in transitioning to decarbonizing technologies that improve buildings or

^{5 &}quot;Typical" customer is defined as a hypothetical customer with patterns that mirror the average load behavior of the customer class and who access information via billing inserts and the internet.

services. These incentives can draw participant interest in new or existing programs that align with the utilities' goals. For example, energy efficiency programs may help utilities reduce capacity demands through weatherization and efficient technologies such as advanced heating and cooling technologies (Molina 2014).

Marketing and Outreach

Marketing provides a critical step to share information about eligibility and encourage enrollment. Utilities market their programs through various formats, such as utility websites, bill inserts, direct mailings, and customer service representatives interactions. We found that these marketing approaches are typically determined during regulatory proceedings to approve the program, but often come with major limitations in how they reach disadvantaged community customers. Programs biased toward the "typical" customer can embed assumptions about access to information and resources (i.e., access to a computer to complete enrollment and availability of financing).

When disadvantaged communities are not prioritized in utility program outreach, disadvantaged customers may remain unaware of beneficial programs or lack the time or resources to enroll. To systematize inclusion, a few utility stakeholders collaborate with trusted local organizations connected to the community, such as local housing authorities or other non-profits. Some utilities hire representatives from different customer demographic groups to help design programs and provide ongoing feedback on the programs' success and impact, enabling utilities to increase utilities' focus on these diverse customer needs to these different demographics and adjust the program as needed on an ongoing basis to meet customer needs.

To systematize inclusion, a few utility stakeholders collaborate with trusted local organizations that are connected to the community, such as local housing authorities or other non-profits.

Implementation

Programs are often managed by a program implementer and a network of trained contractors. While a program might be well-defined from the outset, several decisions remain as customers enroll in programs. Key implementation considerations shared by utility program stakeholders include:

- ensuring fair contracting and bidding practices,
- engaging and developing the workforce,
- assessing the quality of contracted projects,
- providing financing options,
- and clauses for liability and technology quality.

From the interviews, we found that utilities may keep implementation within operations or decide to contract out entire programs, depending on each utility's experience with program implementation, regulatory requirements, and access to highly skilled implementation contractors.

Evaluation

After successful implementation of programs, the utility monitors and evaluates the success of the programs. The metrics and evidence (e.g., customer satisfaction) help to inform any need for course corrections to the program over time. Most PUCs have adopted standard approaches to analyzing customer programs. California was one of the first states to develop and require use of a standard evaluation process for customer program cost-effectiveness (outlined in the California Standard Practice Manual) that includes a series of defined tests for assessing the benefits and costs of a customer program from several perspectives (California Public Utilities Commission 2021). DOE's Better Buildings Energy Efficiency Cost Effectiveness Tool 2.0 uses the tests outlined in the California Standard Practice Manual (Energy and Environmental Economics and Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory 2017). Many other states have either adopted California's Standard Practice Manual outright or similarly structured processes and tests such as Illinois' establishment of standards outlined in its Total Resource Cost Test (Illinois Energy Efficiency Stakeholder Advisory Group 2022). **Table 1** shows the four standard tests included in California's Standard Practice Manual.

Table 1. Benefit-cost tests as outlined in the California Standard Practice Manual

Sources: California Public Utilities Commission, Kevala, Inc.

PARTICIPANT COST TEST	UTILITY COST TEST	RATE IMPACT MEASURE	TOTAL RESOURCE COST
(PCT)	(UCT)	(RIM)	(TRC)
 The PCT measures the quantifiable benefits and costs to the customer due to participation in a program. Benefits include utility bill reductions, incentives, and any reduction in a customer's other costs. Costs include all out-of-pocket expenses incurred plus utility bill increases, equipment or material costs, and ongoing operation and maintenance costs. 	 The UCT measures the net costs of a demand-sidemanagement program as a resource option based on the costs incurred by the utility (factoring in incentive costs) and including any net costs incurred by the participant. Benefits include the avoided supply costs. Costs include expenses related to programs and incentives paid by the utility and the increased supply costs for periods in which load is increased. Revenue shifts, which are viewed as transfer payment are excluded from costs. 	 The RIM measures the impact on customer bills due to changes in utility revenues and program operating costs. Benefits include savings from avoided supply costs and any increased revenue from participants. Costs include program costs incurred by the utility, incentives paid by the utility, decreased revenues due to decrease in load, and increased supply costs due to increase in load. 	The TRC measures the net costs of a program as a resource option based on the total costs of the program and represents the combined effects of a program on both the customers participating and those not participating in a program. • Benefits include avoided supply costs and reduction in other costs. • Costs include program costs such as equipment purchase, installation, operation, and maintenance; administrative costs; plus the increase in supply costs for the periods minus any tax credits— regardless of who pays.

Some utility stakeholders use third-party evaluators to conduct a review of utility programs to promote independence and transparency.

Iteration

Program design requires iteration, so that utility program implementers can identify and remove potential barriers to program participation (Energy Star 2023; Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy 2016). One utility program administrator recalled how the utility conducted pilot programs and used data to iterate on outreach approaches and enrollment strategies.

Across all stakeholders, feedback was expressed as a keystone of successful and responsive utility program design. Interviewees emphasized the role of customers in driving iteration with utility programs by leveraging multiple sources of engagement including: a customer advisory council, biannual customer town halls, annual surveys, and customer complaints line. One utility program administrator communicated the need for more feedback mechanisms within their processes. Gathering feedback from both internal and external sources when developing programs shifted one organization's mindset when developing and iterating on programs. Another utility program stakeholder identified a need to balance between gathering feedback and promptly delivering program benefits to customers.

Interviewees emphasized the role of customers in driving iteration with utility programs by leveraging multiple sources of engagement including: a customer advisory council, biannual customer town halls, annual surveys, and customer complaints line.

Evidence and Metrics

Based on our thematic synthesis, the evidence metrics utilities use vary greatly, as detailed above in the **Evaluation** section. Utilities often gather program and administrative cost information for regulatory purposes. Enrollment and impacts to utility bills are popular metrics among stakeholders. Benchmarking program practices, such as technology costs and contractor installation time, is part of the best practices for energy-efficient utility programs (Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy 2016).

Across our interviews, it was seen as easier to measure programs' impacts on individual customers than on communities. While some utilities are able to calculate energy savings as part of the utility program, others are unable to do so because of limited resources. Similarly, gathering data on demographics, such as disadvantaged community status, has not been uniformly adopted and varies widely among stakeholders. Some utility stakeholders use surveys to assess customers' satisfaction and their willingness to pay for decarbonization programs. These findings align with other reviews that find a lack of metrics across non-federally-funded policies and programs (Sandoval et al. 2023).

Program stakeholders also keep informal and formal records on the workforce quality and availability. One utility keeps track of the number of electricians who received training from a workforce development center. In contrast, another utility states that its workforce is nonexistent, an opinion based on experience in a previously administered utility program.

Rate Design

Customer rates are structured regulator-approved prices for utility services. Often, regulator-approved tariffs are strictly enforced by the utility. As with utility programs, prices outlined in tariffs are accompanied by detailed terms and conditions for payment and eligibility. Each customer class has a designated default pricing tariff, which means that when customers sign up for service and meet a certain income criteria, they are automatically put on that pricing tariff. A range of pricing options are offered to all customers in a customer class, although specialty rate eligibility is limited to certain types of customers (such as discounted rates for low-income customers) are limited. Specialty rates are even illegal in many states because of antiquated views of utility customer classes. Legacy policies created to prevent discrimination among customers do not always support customers of all demographics—particularly disadvantaged customers. From our interviews and review, we found that in many cases, these tariffs are imposed on the entire customer base, regardless of their participation in the utility program.

Multiple pricing options may be offered to specific customer classes, leaving other customers with only one choice. Customers may find various pricing options only apply to specific technology investments (such as electric vehicles), or that incentivizes for changes in energy use require taking advantage of rate structures such as time-of-use utility rates. These programs and pricing options are usually marketed through bill inserts or a utility's website, which could limit participation for customers without easy access to the internet or motivation to look at the inserts.

Utilities often offer assistance programs for customers who are struggling to pay their utility bills, or looking for more even and predictable utility bills. These programs, such as the Low-Income Home Energy Assistance Program (LI-HEAP), help ensure that energy needs can be met for customers who face financial difficulties or have fallen behind on bill payments. It also appears that some utilities are able to provide greater benefits to the entire customer base, including disadvantaged communities, through better access to programs, differential customer rates, and removing barriers to enrollment.

Motivation for Utility Programs

Modifying and developing new program provide key mechanisms for utilities to deploy innovative strategies. Programs can incentivize technologies that reduce grid stress, extend transformer life, and increase reliability, such as photovoltaic systems (Kannan and Vakeesan 2016). These programs help to modulate the capacity changes driven by increasing electricity demands, whether from growth in the number of customers or increased electrification. Utilities are also motivated to deploy innovative programs to address the needs of ratepayers and be responsive to public opinions. In addition, regulation of utilities can often include requirements for specific program provisions.

Table 2. Examples of Motivation for Programs

Capacity	Technology	Public Opinion	Regulation
 Greater electric vehicle adoption increasing demand Photovoltaics shifting demand 	 Energy-efficienct technology decreasing demand Batteries allowing demand flexibility 	 Protests and media coverage from rate changes Calls from ratepayers on programs 	Public utility commissionsBoards of directorsLocal governments

Capacity

As electrification increases, utilities must determine how they will meet increasing demand. Energy-efficient and decarbonizing technologies have become widely available for customers. In the United States, electric car sales have broken records, with sales momentum expected to continue for the next five years (Statista 2023; IEA 2023). Photovoltaic technologies accounted for 54% of all new electricity-generating capacity installed in 2023 (SEIA 2023). In short, demand and generation of electricity is quickly changing. During interviews, one CCA utility stakeholder expressed that its organization faced barriers to delivering electricity on time because of increased electric vehicle charging demand.

As adoption of decarbonizing technologies increases, the demand on the electric grid has fundamentally shifted, requiring utilities to consider alternative strategies to deliver reliable and affordable electricity (Banks 2022). A few interviewees felt behind on investments in utility generation and distribution systems, describing themselves as trying to catch up with current demand and unable to prepare for future demand growth. Currently, there are too many fossil-fuel power plants to meet climate goals (Leahy 2019). Utilities that need to generate additional capacity, must consider how they will add renewable generation to their portfolios and pay for additional capacity.

Utilities that need to generate additional capacity, must consider how they will add renewable generation to their portfolios and pay for additional capacity.

Technology

Across all stakeholder interviews, electric vehicles and photovoltaics were commonly brought up as technologies that are changing energy demand and generation needs. Some stakeholders shared how these technologies provide motivation for new programs, such as incentivizing batteries to store surplus energy from photovoltaics or installing electric vehicle charging stations. In addition, energy efficiency programs can be designed to increase the resilience of customers' buildings. Utilities have recognized the shifting landscape of technology adoption and demand and have leveraged innovative programs to meet existing needs while delivering benefits.

Public Opinion

Requests from the public can be strong motivators for utilities to modify existing programs or develop new ones. As previously mentioned, a few interviewees shared that feedback from customers, through calls, member advisory committees, public comment, or other modes, can influence new or existing program designs. Public requests often come from customers who are knowledgeable about current or potential utility programs and who are willing and able to contact their utilities regarding these matters.

Public oversight, such as customer advisory boards, can also motivate utilities to decarbonize. City, state, and federal policies are both calling for and regulating to ensure that utilities address climate change, equity, and energy justice.

Regulation

Utilities are subject to different types of regulation (typically administered at the state level) depending on their structures, state level. IOUs and municipal utilities are often regulated with rules and legislation. In an interview with an IOU program designer, they shared how they receive their energy savings goals from the PUC. One program administrator shared how most of its IOU's programs were the result of regulation. This regulation includes a specified amount of revenue the utility can collect, which also limits how much profit the utility can generate if it is an IOU. CCAs and the remaining utility types are subject to much more lenient regulation. Typically, the state's renewable portfolio standard and local administrative requirements must be met to establish and maintain a new CCA or other utility structure. CCAs and other non-IOU utility structures are not-for-profit entities, so the net revenue they collect can be reinvested back into the communities they serve (Trumbull, Gattaciecca, and DeShazo 2020). Furthermore, because CCAs and other utility structures have rate-setting abilities, they can raise or lower rates to increase or decrease their revenues (while keeping pricing competitiveness in mind).



Jordan Macknick, Energy and Environmental Analyst at NREL, takes a temperature reading and water samples from the Platte River, upstream of the Excel Zuni Power Plant in Denver, Colorado. Photo by Dennis Schroeder, NREL 33324

FEDERAL AND LOCAL POLICY IMPACT ON UTILITIES

Y

7

T



-1

Y

Ť

1

The changing incentives and policy landscape at the federal and local levels can have an impact on customers and utilities, alike. It is also possible for a utility to be enlisted by law to aid in or fully carry out policy objectives. Utilities can be influenced by federal goals or initiatives, such as the Justice40 Initiative and the Inflation Reduction Act (IRA). Finally, the funding of various laws through the tax base (e.g., electric vehicle rebates) may motivate utilities to create programs that bolster existing incentives.

State and federal entities are motivating utilities to decarbonize. Numerous states have allocated funds for clean energy and climate programs. President Biden signed the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 (IRA), which legislated \$369 billion in funding for clean energy and climate programs.

State Clean Energy and Climate Program Examples

Illinois - Climate and Equitable Jobs Act: Sets hard deadlines for decarbonization and establishes utility accountability measures.

New York - Climate Leadership and Protection Act: Sets goal of 100% clean, carbon-free electricity by 2040.

California - Senate Bill 100: Requires that renewable energy and zero-carbon resources supply 100% of electricity retail sales to end-use customers by 2045.

Maine - Maine Won't Wait: Aims to reduce carbon emissions by switching from fossil fuels to electricity.

Michigan - Senate Bill 271: Specifies energy reforms designed to push utilities toward renewable energy.

The portion of the funds provided to utilities through the IRA is intended to help utilities meet or exceed their decarbonization goals. Some predictions estimate the IRA could lower U.S. net greenhouse gas emissions by 40%-42% below 2005 levels by 2030 (Mammadov and Lee 2022). This reduction is expected to be accomplished by accelerating energy transitions through incentives for renewable energy project development and decarbonization technologies.

Section 13701 of the IRA sets the Clean Electricity Production Tax Credit, which is available to corporate entities or energy companies, at 0.3 cents per kilowatt hour of electricity (The White House 2023a). Any entity building new electric generation with zero greenhouse gas emissions, such as renewable energy facilities, is eligible to receive this tax credit. IOUs, muni, CCAs, energy service providers, and all other electricity generators are expected to be eligible to use this tax credit to accelerate the development of new renewable energy facilities. This benefit may encourage utilities to meet or exceed their decarbonization goals. Entities that purchase electric generation from other suppliers, such as most co-ops, are not eligible for this tax credit.

The IRA also includes funding for transmission upgrades. Utilities that own and operate transmission lines may be eligible for direct loans or grants to modify or construct transmission facilities and to plan interstate, interregional, and offshore transmission lines.

Inflation Reduction Act of 2022

\$369 billion in funding for clean energy and climate programs.

Predictions show IRA could **lower U.S. net** greenhouse gas emissions 40%–42% below 2005 levels by 2030.

Section 22004 of the IRA provides loans and grants to rural electric cooperatives (The White House 2023a). These funds are available to rural electric cooperatives that achieve greenhouse gas emissions reductions through energy efficiency improvements to electricity generation, transmission, and distribution. These funds are specifically aimed at helping rural co-ops meet decarbonization goals and better serve their communities.

While the IRA brings many benefits to utilities, it also imposes a minimum corporate tax of 15% on IOUs with profits greater than \$1 billion in profits. While this minimum tax is a significant increase over the previous rate, benefits of renewable energy generation tax credits are expected to outweigh the negative effects of tax increases (Pomerantz 2022). In addition, some cities set their own decarbonization goals. While IOUs may be less affected by cities' goals, municipal and co-op utilities may be responsible for helping meet those goals.

Another method of decarbonization targets the supply of electricity (Arent et al. 2022). However, as we move further toward competitive electric generation market served by multiple parties at various price points, it is becoming more difficult for IOUs, because they are not the entities generating electricity, to implement decarbonization policy as regulators expect. CCAs and other less-regulated utilities that generate supply have more control over how electricity is generated and can account for decarbonization incentives more directly. However, because CCAs and other providers are less regulated than IOUs, the impact of policy in driving decarbonization is less clear.



Utility-scale solar photovoltaic plant on capped landfill in Worcester, MA. Photo by Teresa Wheeler, NREL 881278

HURDLES IN UTILITY PROGRAMS



From our research and synthesis, we identified limitations of the current processes for designing and implementing utility programs and rates.



Top-Down Regulation

Utility rate and program design are currently driven by a top-down approach focused on broad program offerings with distorted long-term incentives for customers who self-select into programs based primarily on participants' financial benefits. The distortion is generally caused by incentives such as net metering that embedded in rates and tough for customers to recognize, or through incentives such as investment tax credits or rebates that reduce upfront costs sunset at specific dates, and create increase the cost of ownership.

Limited Pricing Options Within Customer Classes

Utilities generally offer a limited number of rates to a customer class based on the class's maximum or average consumption, demand, or use of a specific technology (photovoltaics, electric vehicles, etc.). These rates do not consider how or when a customer consumes energy apart from a time-of-use-based rate, or customer demographics beyond customer class (residential, commercial, industrial, etc.). This leaves a rate designed to meet the general needs of each customer class with limited exceptions and imprecisely targeted impacts.

Program Bias Toward "Typical" Customers

Traditional rate and program designs are based on an antiquated view of utility customers. Utilities and their regulators view customers the way they did more than 100 years ago, classifying customers by building type (e.g., residential or commercial and industrial) and size (e.g., small, medium, and large). Programs are inherently designed for "typical" customers in each class, which dismisses any outliers.

Right now, the average low-income household experiences an energy burden—the percent of household income spent on energy costs—as much as three times higher than households in higher income brackets. Because the amount of benefit increases according to the size of the customer's tax bill, this tax credit model also perpetuates inequitable access to incentives.

Further, many of the opportunities to decarbonize (such as purchasing electric vehicles, installing rooftop solar, or adopting more efficient heat pump systems) are limited to customers who have the capital and access needed to acquire these technologies. Lastly, many incentive mechanisms, such as investment tax credits, favor those with higher incomes (Slanger and Mendell 2021). President Biden has made bringing clean energy benefits to marginalized and low-income communities a priority. Right now, the average low-income household experiences an energy burden—the percent of household income spent on energy costs—as much as three times higher than households in higher income brackets. Because the amount of benefit increases according to the size of the customer's tax bill, this tax credit model also perpetuates inequitable access to incentives.

Program Marketing

Program marketing can increase enrollment in utility programs, but current approaches can be limited. These marketing strategies may be exclusive to certain customer groups and may not be fully engaging. Utilities often use existing communication channels, such as email notifications, web portals, or mailed utility bills, to inform customers of new programs. However, this marketing often assumes that customers have the time and knowledge to research a program and determine if it is right for them. This is not always the case, and improved marketing can enhance customer enrollment in these programs.

Limited Evidence and Metrics

There is no established standard for tracking the success of a program. Utilities track program metrics in a variety of ways, often even within a single utility, based on methods determined by the program designers. This variation makes it hard to compare one program's success to that of another program.

Specifically, a widening wealth gap between customers has meant that wealthier customers are able to reduce and even "zero out" their energy bills with investments in technologies and by taking advantage of targeted financial offerings.

We argue that these shortcomings result in strain on energy justice—equal access to affordable, clean, and reliable electricity—and hinder the ability of low-income customers to better manage energy bills. Specifically, a widening economic gap between customers has meant that wealthier customers are able to reduce and even "zero out" their energy bills with investments in technologies and by taking advantage of targeted financial offerings.

REFERENCES

- Abram, Simone, Ed Atkins, Alix Dietzel, Kirsten Jenkins, Lorna Kiamba, Joshua Kirshner, Julia Kreienkamp, Karen Parkhill, Tom Pegram, and Lara M. Santos Ayllón. 2022. "Just Transition: A Whole-Systems Approach to Decarbonisation." *Climate Policy* 22 (8): 1033–49. https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2022.2108365.
- ACEEE. 2022. "Energy Efficiency Resource Standards." https:// database.aceee.org/state/energy-efficiency-resource-standards.
- Arent, Douglas J., Peter Green, Zia Abdullah, Teresa Barnes, Sage Bauer, Andrey Bernstein, Derek Berry, et al. 2022. "Challenges and Opportunities in Decarbonizing the U.S. Energy System." *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 169 (November):112939. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2022.112939.
- Baker, Shalanda. 2021. *Revolutionary Power: An Activist's Guide to the Energy Transition*. Washington, DC: Island Press.
- Banks, John P. 2022. "The Decarbonization Transition and U.S. Electricity Markets: Impacts and Innovations." *WIREs Energy and Environment* 11 (6): e449. https://doi. org/10.1002/wene.449.
- Bonbright, James C. 1960. "Principles of Public Utility Rates." NYC, NY: Columbia University Press. https://www. raponline.org/knowledge-center/principles-of-public-utility-rates/.
- Brown, Marilyn A., Anmol Soni, Melissa V. Lapsa, Katie Southworth, and Matt Cox. 2020. "High Energy Burden and Low-Income Energy Affordability: Conclusions from a Literature Review." *Progress in Energy* 2 (4): 042003. https://doi.org/10.1088/2516-1083/abb954.
- California Public Utilities Commission. 2021. "California Standard Practice Manual: Economic Analysis of Demand-Side Programs and Projects."
- Con Edison. 2023. "PowerReady Disadvantaged Community Areas | Con Edison." 2023. https://www. coned.com/en/our-energy-future/electric-vehicles/~/link.aspx?_id=902B75437CF0435D91B3C-54C61D26972&_z=z.

- Cooper. 2019. "Section 1 Defining Energy Justice: Connections to Environmental Justice, Climate Justice, and the Just Transition." *Initiative for Energy Justice* (blog). December 23, 2019. https://iejusa.org/section-1-defining-energy-justice/.
- Costello, Ken. 2014. "Alternative Rate Mechanisms and Their Compatibility with State Utility Commission Objectives." 14–03. Silver Spring, MD: National Regulatory Research Institute. https://pubs.naruc.org/pub/ FA86C519-AF31-D926-BE12-2AC7AE0CD8D6.
- Davis, Ron. 2009. "Regulatory Principles and Regulatory Regimes." *Colorado Department of Regulatory Agencies*.
- Dépit, Claire. 2023. "Community Choice Aggregation." LEAN ENERGY US' 2023 Report and Presentation, June 28. https://www.leanenergyus.org/2023-cca-study.
- DOE. 2024. "Justice40 Initiative." Energy.Gov. 2024. https:// www.energy.gov/justice/justice40-initiative.
- Donaghy, Timothy Q., Noel Healy, Charles Y. Jiang, and Colette Pichon Battle. 2023. "Fossil Fuel Racism in the United States: How Phasing out Coal, Oil, and Gas Can Protect Communities." *Energy Research* & Social Science 100 (June):103104. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.erss.2023.103104.
- EIA. 2019. "Investor-Owned Utilities Served 72% of U.S. Electricity Customers in 2017." *Today in Energy*. August 15, 2019. https://www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/detail. php?id=40913#.
- Energy and Environmental Economics and Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. 2017. "Better Buildings Energy Efficiency Cost-Effectiveness Tool (v2.0) Frequently Asked Questions."
- Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy. 2016. "Program Design & Customer Experience – Make Design Decisions." Washington DC: Department of Energy. https://rpsc.energy.gov/handbooks/program-design-customer-experience-make-design-decisions.
- Energy Star. 2023. "Best Practices for Program Design and Implementation." 2023. https://www.energystar. gov/partner_resources/residential_new/working/ utilities_other/best_practices.

Executive Office of the President. 2021. *Tackling the Climate Crisis at Home and Abroad. Executive Order 14008 of Jan 27, 2021*. Vol. 2021–02177. https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2021/02/01/2021-02177/tackling-the-climate-crisis-at-home-and-abroad.

- Fears, Darryl. 2022. "Redlining Has Created Pollution Disparities in More than 200 U.S. Cities, Study Finds." *The Washington Post*, March 9, 2022. https:// www.washingtonpost.com/climate-environment/2022/03/09/redlining-pollution-environmental-justice/.
- Federal Energy Regulatory Commission. 2023. "Electric Power Markets." https://www.ferc.gov/electric-power-markets.
- Gultom, Yohanna M. L. 2019. "Governance Structures and Efficiency in the U.S. Electricity Sector after the Market Restructuring and Deregulation." *Energy Policy* 129 (June):1008–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. enpol.2019.02.005.
- Heinemann, Attorneys Richard, and Jared Walker Smith. 2020. "Municipal Utility Governance: Options and Responsibilities." Boardman & Clark, LLP.
- Herd, Pamela, and Donald P. Moynihan. 2019. *Administrative Burden: Policymaking by Other Means*. Russell Sage Foundation.
- IEA. 2023. "Demand for Electric Cars Is Booming, with Sales Expected to Leap 35% This Year after a Record-Breaking 2022." https://www.iea.org/news/ demand-for-electric-cars-is-booming-with-salesexpected-to-leap-35-this-year-after-a-record-breaking-2022.
- Illinois Energy Efficiency Stakeholder Advisory Group. 2022. "Illinois Energy Efficiency Policy Manual Version 2.1." Illinois Energy Efficiency Stakeholder Advisory Group. https://www.ilsag.info/wp-content/ uploads/IL_EE_Policy_Manual_Version_2.1_Final_12-7-2021-1.pdf.

Illinois General Assembly. 2022. *Performance-Based Ratemaking. 220 ILCS 5*. https://www. ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/fulltext.asp?Doc-Name=022000050K16-108.18.

Johnston, Jill, and Lara Cushing. 2020. "Chemical Exposures, Health, and Environmental Justice in Communities Living on the Fenceline of Industry." *Current Environmental Health Reports* 7 (1): 48–57. https://doi. org/10.1007/s40572-020-00263-8. Kannan, Nadarajah, and Divagar Vakeesan. 2016. "Solar Energy for Future World: A Review." *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 62 (September):1092–1105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. rser.2016.05.022.

- Leahy, Stephen. 2019. "We Have Too Many Fossil-Fuel Power Plants to Meet Climate Change Goals." *National Geographic* July 1, 2019. https://www.nationalgeographic.com/environment/article/we-have-toomany-fossil-fuel-power-plants-to-meet-climategoals#.
- Mammadov, Elchin, and Mathew Lee. 2022. "Inflation Reduction Act May Energize Utilities' Energy Transition." August 31, 2022. https://www. msci.com/www/blog-posts/inflation-reduction-act-may/03359451021.
- Molina, Maggie. 2014. "The Best Value for America's Energy Dollar:" U1402. Washington DC: American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy.
- Murphy, Caitlin, Trieu Mai, Yinong Sun, Paige Jadun, Matteo Muratori, Brent Nelson, and Ryan Jones. 2021. "Electrification Futures Study: Scenarios of Power System Evolution and Infrastructure Development for the United States." NREL/TP-6A20-72330. National Renewable Energy Lab. (NREL); Northern Arizona Univ.; Evolved Energy Research. https://doi. org/10.2172/1762438.
- NCUC. 2023. "Electricity." 2023. https://www.ncuc.gov/Industries/electric/electric.html.
- Office of Energy Justice and Equity. 2022. "How Energy Justice, Presidential Initiatives, and Executive Orders Shape Equity at DOE." Department of Energy. January 3, 2022. https://www.energy.gov/justice/ articles/how-energy-justice-presidential-initiatives-and-executive-orders-shape-equity-doe.
- Oklahoma Environmental Quality. 2022. "Final Intended Use Plan." Oklahoma: Oklahoma Environmental Quality. https://www.deq.ok.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/2023IUPFinalCompleteJuly262022. pdf.
- O'Shaughnessy, Eric, Monisha Shah, David Parra, and Kristen Ardani. 2022. "The Demand-Side Resource Opportunity for Deep Grid Decarbonization." *Joule* 6 (5): 972–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joule.2022.04.010.

- Pastor, Manuel, Rachel Morello-Frosch, and James L. Sadd. 2005. "The Air Is Always Cleaner on the Other Side: Race, Space, and Ambient Air Toxics Exposures in California." *Journal of Urban Affairs* 27 (2): 127–48. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0735-2166.2005.00228.x.
- Payne, Heather. 2020. "The Natural Gas Paradox: Shutting Down a System Designed to Operate Forever." *Maryland Law Review* 80:693.
- Pérez-Almendros, Carla, Luis Espinosa-Anke, and Steven Schockaert. 2020. "Don't Patronize Me! An Annotated Dataset with Patronizing and Condescending Language towards Vulnerable Communities." arXiv. https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.2011.08320.
- Pomerantz, David. 2022. "Utilities That Support Inflation Reduction Act Are Members of Trade Groups Attacking It." *Energy and Policy Institute* (blog). August 4, 2022. https://energyandpolicy.org/utilities-ira-chamber-nam/.
- Posner, Richard A. 1969. "Natural Monopoly and Its Regulation." *Stanford Law Review* 21 (3): 548. https://doi. org/10.2307/1227624.
- Public Utility Commission. 2023a. "Disadvantaged Communities." State of California. 2023. https://www.cpuc. ca.gov/industries-and-topics/electrical-energy/ infrastructure/disadvantaged-communities#.
- State of Oregon. 2023b. "Rates and Tariffs." Utility Regulation: State of Oregon. 2023. https://www.oregon.gov/ puc/utilities/pages/rates-tariffs.aspx.
- RedClay. 2018. "Industry 101 | Regulation in the Electricity Industry: Rate Case Process." *Red Clay* (blog). September 19, 2018. https://redclay.com/ industry-101-regulation-in-the-electricity-industry-rate-case-process/.
- Sandoval, Noah, Jonathan Morgenstein, Jesse Geiger, Patrick Gibbs, Morgan Bazilian, and Adam Warren. 2023. "A Comparative Analysis of U.S. State-Level Policies and Programs to Advance Energy Justice." *Progress in Energy*. https://doi.org/10.1088/2516-1083/ad1052.
- SEIA. 2023. "U.S. Solar Market Insight." https://www.seia.org/ us-solar-market-insight.
- Sharkey, William W. 1983. "The Theory of Natural Monopoly." *Cambridge Books*. https://ideas.repec.org//b/cup/ cbooks/9780521271943.html.

- Slanger, Ryan, and Russell Mendell. 2021. "Congress Cannot Ignore Residential Solar Tax Credit Inequities." *RMI* (blog). October 14, 2021. https://rmi.org/congress-cannot-ignore-residential-solar-tax-credit-inequities/.
- Statista. 2023. "Electric Vehicles US | Statista Market Forecast." September 2023. https://www.statista.com/ outlook/mmo/electric-vehicles/united-states.
- ———. 2023b. "Justice40 Initiative | Environmental Justice." The White House. April 2023. https://www.whitehouse.gov/environmentaljustice/justice40/.
- Trumbull, Kelly, Julien Gattaciecca, and J R DeShazo. 2020. "The Role of Community Choice Aggregators in Advancing Clean Energy Transitions:" Los Angeles, CA: UCLA Luskin Center for Innovation.
- The White House. 2023a. "Building a Clean Energy Economy: A Guidebook to the Inflation Reduction Act's Investment in Clean Energy and Climate Action." https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2022/12/Inflation-Reduction-Act-Guidebook. pdf.
- The World Bank. 2023. "Pollution." *World Bank* (blog). September 19, 2023. https://www.worldbank.org/en/ topic/pollution.
- Young, Shalanda D., Brenda Mallory, and Ali Zaidi. 2023. "Addendum to the Interim Implementation Guidance for the Justice40 Initiative, M-21-28, on Using the Climate and Economic Justice Screening Tool (CE-JST)," January 27, 2023. https://www.whitehouse. gov/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/M-23-09_ Signed_CEQ_CPO.pdf.

Photo by Dennis Schroeder, NREL 53119

ANALISH BERKENBERGERE

Piter A

MAR

1

26

Transforming ENERGY

National Renewable Energy Laboratory 15013 Denver West Parkway Golden, CO 80401 303-275-3000 • www nrel gov

NREL is a national laboratory of the U S Department of Energy, Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy, operated by the Alliance for Sustainable Energy, LLC

NREL/TP-5500-90456 • August 2024